



About Monitor

Monitor is the sector regulator for health services in England. Our job is to protect and promote the interests of patients by ensuring that the whole sector works for their benefit.

For example, we make sure foundation hospitals, ambulance trusts and mental health and community care organisations are run well, so they can continue delivering good quality services for patients in the future. To do this, we work particularly closely with the Care Quality Commission, the quality and safety regulator. When it establishes that a foundation trust is failing to provide good quality care, we take remedial action to ensure the problem is fixed.

We also set prices for NHS-funded services, tackle anti-competitive practices that are against the interests of patients, help commissioners ensure essential local services continue if providers get into serious difficulty, and enable better integration of care so services are less fragmented and easier to access.

Foreword

One of Monitor's objectives is to make sure that public providers are well led. To this end, the *NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance* (the Code) is our way of providing guidance to NHS foundation trusts to help them deliver effective corporate governance, contribute to better organisational performance and ultimately discharge their duties in the best interests of patients.

We last updated the Code in 2010, and a great deal has changed since then. In addition to setting out new duties for Monitor, the 2012 Health and Social Care Act (the 2012 Act) established a range of new duties for governors and boards of NHS foundation trusts. As a result, we have also developed new regulatory tools – *the provider licence* and the *Risk Assessment Framework* – which have implications for how trusts establish and report on corporate governance arrangements. The UK Corporate Governance Code (formerly the Combined Code), on which the Code is based, has also been significantly updated a number of times since 2010.

As well as making changes to reflect the new regulatory and policy landscape, we also wanted to make sure that the updated Code was a useful, practical tool for trusts to use. We therefore asked for feedback from across the sector on a draft of the revised Code. The draft which we published in November 2013 included a number of significant changes including a new introduction, a new structure, greater clarity regarding disclosure requirements and a section which explains how the Code fits alongside Monitor's other governance tools.

We have received over 40 responses to our request for feedback and we are grateful to the sector for responding in short timescales in so much detail. We hope it is clear from the changes we have made to the final version of the Code that we have sought to take on as much of the feedback as was appropriate. In particular:

- You told us that reporting on all of the principles was too burdensome. We are
 therefore now only asking for a report on how the principles are applied in cases of
 non-compliance. This reflects the reporting requirements of the UK Corporate
 Governance Code.
- You told us that including all of the information in a separate disclosure created duplication and unnecessary effort. As a result, where information is already included in the annual report, you need only clearly reference the location of that information in the disclosure rather than duplicating the content.
- You told us that the combination of statutory, mandatory and comply or explain requirements was confusing. We have therefore clearly identified statutory provisions separately throughout the Code.

The feedback exercise also raised a number of questions which we have been unable or chosen not to address in the Code. These include:

 Questions about the format, scope and resources required for the tri-annual governance reviews. Monitor will be consulting separately on guidance for these reviews in January 2014. Questions about the expectations on, and knowledge and capacity of, governors in undertaking their statutory duties. We would strongly recommend referring to the detailed governance on these questions, which is available elsewhere. In particular <u>Your statutory duties: A reference guide for NHS foundation</u> <u>trust governors</u> and <u>Director-governor interaction in NHS foundation trusts: A best</u> practice guide for boards of directors.

There are two other changes that we would like to highlight since the draft was published:

- We stated in our consultation a desire to maintain the current requirement for three independent members of the audit committee. Feedback from the professional bodies that responded to the consultation (including the authors of the UK Corporate Governance Code on which the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance is based) suggested that this was not best practice. We have therefore revised the Code to require all members of the audit committee to be independent. The option to 'explain' non-compliance is available for trusts that have valid reasons for failing to meet this standard.
- We stated in the draft Code that it would apply from 1 April 2014. Feedback from the sector highlighted that because the 2010 edition of the Code does not reflect the 2012 Act or other regulatory developments including the licence it would be more practical to report against the revised Code. We have therefore revised the Code to apply from 1 January 2014. This means that trusts should report on the revised code for 2013/14. The option to 'explain' non-compliance is available in the case of provisions that are new and cannot be applied retrospectively.

It is our intention to continue to improve the Code to ensure that it reflects best practice in the private and public sectors, and remains a valuable tool for trusts to use in maintaining good corporate governance. We would therefore welcome any further feedback on the revised Code for us to consider in the future.

Stephen Hay

Managing Director, Provider Regulation

Contents

Intro	duction	5
1.1	Why is there a code of governance for NHS foundation trusts?	5
1.2	What is corporate governance?	6
1.3	About the Code	6
1.4	Application of the Code	7
The r	main principles of the Code	12
Secti	on A: Leadership	16
A.1	The role of the board of directors	16
A.2	2 Division of responsibilities	19
A.3	3 The chairperson	19
A.4	Non-executive directors	20
A.5	Governors	21
Secti	on B: Effectiveness	25
B.1	The composition of the board	25
B.2	2 Appointments to the board	26
B.3	3 Commitment	28
B.4	Development	29
B.5	Information and support	30
B.6	S Evaluation	32
B.7	Re-appointment of directors and re-election of governors	34
B.8	Resignation of directors	35
Secti	on C. Accountability	36
C.1	Financial, quality and operational reporting	36
C.2	2 Risk management and internal control	37
C.3	3 Audit committee and auditors	38
Secti	on D. Remuneration	41
D.1	The level and components of remuneration	41
D.2	Procedure	42
Secti	on E. Relations with stakeholders	44
E.1	Dialogue with members, patients and the local community	44
E.2	2 Co-operation with third parties with roles in relation to NHS foundation trusts	46
Sche	dule A: Disclosure of corporate governance arrangements	47

Appendix A: The role of the NHS foundation trust secretary	58
Appendix B: The role of the nominated lead governor	59
Appendix C: The NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance and other regulator	ſy
requirements	61

Introduction

1.1 Why is there a code of governance for NHS foundation trusts?

The principal purpose of NHS foundation trusts is to provide health care services in England. Together, they deliver care to a huge number of patients each year. To make sure the care that NHS foundation trusts provide is safe, effective, caring and responsive for patients, trust boards must be founded on and supported by a strong governance structure. Monitor, as sector regulator, seeks to protect patients and promote their interests, and ultimately good governance enables the kind of decision-making and processes that are essential to achieving these goals.

NHS foundation trusts are created as legal entities in the form of public benefit corporations by the National Health Service Act 2006 (the 2006 Act). This legislation provided NHS foundation trusts with a governance regime that is fundamentally different from NHS trusts and so requires its own guidance. The boards of directors of NHS foundation trusts have more autonomy to make financial and strategic decisions than NHS trusts; these are to be taken with the goal of maximising the benefit to patients. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 (the 2012 Act) provided further changes to the governance regime for NHS foundation trusts.

The board of directors is a unitary board. This means that within the board of directors, the non-executive directors and executive directors make decisions as a single group and share the same responsibility and liability. All directors, executive and non-executive, have responsibility to constructively challenge during board discussions and help develop proposals on priorities, risk mitigation, values, standards and strategy.

The board of directors also has a framework of local accountability through members and a council of governors, which replaced central control from the Secretary of State for Health. NHS foundation trust governors are responsible as a council for holding the non-executive directors, individually and collectively, responsible for the performance of this unitary board. In turn, NHS foundation trust governors are accountable to the members who elect or appoint them and must represent their interests and those of the public.

In this code of governance we bring together the best practices of the public and private sector in order to help NHS foundation trust boards maintain good quality corporate governance. We believe this is necessary if the needs of patients are to be met. In this document, we set out a common overarching framework for the corporate governance of NHS foundation trusts that complements the statutory and regulatory obligations they have (which are referenced throughout this document).

1.2 What is corporate governance?

An NHS foundation trust's board has a duty to promote the success of the organisation so as to maximise the benefits for the members of the trust as a whole and for the public who will be treated by the trust. Therefore, a board needs to be able to deliver prudent and effective leadership and effective oversight of the trust's operations to ensure it is operating in the best interests of patients.

Corporate governance is the means by which boards lead and direct their organisations so that decision-making is effective and the right outcomes are delivered. In the NHS this means delivering safe, effective services in a caring and compassionate environment in a way that is responsive to the changing needs of patients and service users. Robust governance structures that encourage proper engagement with stakeholders and strong local accountability will help NHS foundation trusts to maintain the trust and confidence of the people and communities that they service. Good corporate governance is dynamic. Governing bodies should be committed to improving governance on a continuing basis through a process of evaluation and review.

Good corporate governance is the means by which quality governance is overseen. Robust corporate and quality governance arrangements complement and reinforce one another. Individuals working in clinical teams providing NHS services are at the front line of ensuring quality of care to patients. However, it is the board of directors that takes final and definitive responsibility for improvements, successful delivery, and equally failures, in the quality of care. Effective governance therefore requires that boards pay as much attention to quality of care and quality governance as they do to the financial health of their organisation. More information on the role of boards in quality governance can be found in *Quality Governance in the NHS – a guide for provider boards* from the National Quality Board.

1.3 About the Code

The NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance (the Code) was first published in 2006 and was revised in 2010. Following significant regulatory change as a result of the 2012 Act and taking account of developments in our regulatory toolkit since then, we have updated the Code. **This updated version will apply from 1**January 2014.

As with the 2010 version of the Code, our approach has been to bring best practice from the private sector to the NHS foundation trust sector, with the ultimate goal of ensuring a strong governance structure is in place to enable high-quality patient care. The Code therefore builds on the significant update to the *UK Corporate Governance Code* which was issued in 2012.

1.4 Application of the Code

1.4.1 What do NHS foundation trusts need to do to fulfil the Code's requirements?

This Code is best practice advice. It is not our role to prescribe in detail what governance systems and processes should look like or set rigid rules; instead we seek to support good governance by offering sound guidance. We are keen that NHS foundation trusts should have the autonomy and flexibility to ensure their structures and processes work well for their individual organisations now and in the future, while making sure they meet our overall requirements which are dictated by patient interest.

There are a number of advantages to the "comply or explain" approach on which the Code is based. Its inherent flexibility means that it is possible for us to set more demanding standards than can be done through hard rules. Experience has shown that the vast majority of private companies are able to meet these standards, which can easily be translated to suit the NHS foundation trust model. In addition, requiring NHS foundation trusts to report to members and patients means that the decision on whether a trust's governance is adequate is taken by those in whose interest the board is required to act.

Comply or explain

The provisions of the Code, as best practice advice, do not represent mandatory guidance and accordingly non-compliance is not in itself a breach of NHS Foundation Trust Condition 4 of the NHS provider licence (also known as the Governance condition). However, trusts should note the relevant statutory requirements that we have highlighted within the Code.

Good governance is an important tool for ensuring the quality of care. Some trusts may decide that the provisions are disproportionate or less relevant in their case. Such trusts may still consider that it would be appropriate to adopt the approach in the Code, and it is recognised that departure from the specific provisions of the Code may be justified in particular circumstances. All NHS foundation trusts are encouraged to take account of the best practice provisions described in this Code.

Reasons for non-compliance with the Code should be explained. This "comply or explain" approach has been in successful operation for at least the last 15 years in the private sector and is not new to the NHS foundation trust sector. In providing an explanation for non-compliance, the NHS foundation trust should aim to illustrate how its actual practices are consistent with the principle to which the particular provision relates. It should set out the background, provide a clear rationale, and describe any mitigating actions it is taking to address any risks and maintain conformity with the relevant principle. Where deviation from a particular provision is

intended to be limited in time, the explanation should indicate when the NHS foundation trust expects to conform to the provision.

Satisfactory engagement between the board of directors, the council of governors, members and patients is crucial to the effectiveness of NHS foundation trusts' corporate governance approach. Directors and governors both have a responsibility for ensuring that "comply or explain" remains an effective alternative to a rules-based system and a key aspect of this is ensuring improved interaction between directors, governors, members and – crucially – patients, communities and the public.

Behaviours

In this NHS Foundation Trust *Code of Governance*, we set out best practice principles and structures and processes (through the Code's provisions), but ultimately only directors and governors can demonstrate and promote the effective board *behaviour* that is needed to guarantee good corporate governance in practice. The achievement of good governance requires continuing and determined effort and boards have opportunities within the framework of the Code to decide themselves how they should act. It is therefore incumbent on boards to think deeply, thoroughly and on an ongoing basis about their overall tasks and the implications of this for the roles of their individual members.

NHS foundation trust governors should also be mindful of the principles of the Code and the disclosures that the board is making as part of their role in holding the non-executives to account.

Disclosure requirements

To meet the requirements of "comply or explain" each trust must comply with each of the provisions of the code (which in some cases will require a statement or information to be required in the annual report) or, where appropriate, explain in each case why the trust has departed from the Code.

In addition, to help us verify that the right behaviours and approach are in place where a trust opts not to comply with a provision, the trust must explain how its approach still reflects the principles of the Code relating to that provision. The form and content of this part of the statement are not prescribed, the intention being that trusts should have a free hand to explain their governance policies in the light of the principles, including any special circumstances applying to them which have led to a particular approach.

It is important to note that:

• a comprehensive list of the provisions to which "comply or explain" applies, are clearly stated in Schedule A to this document;

- we have clearly noted throughout the document and in Schedule A where a
 provision may be statutory as a result of other legislation and therefore where
 compliance is mandatory;
- although in some cases disclosures may be contained elsewhere in the annual reporting documentation, a statement for the Code is required which includes everything listed in Schedule A. Where information would be duplicated, trusts need only provide a clear reference to the location of the information within the annual report; and
- a completed set of disclosures as per Schedule A should be included within a trust's annual report.

1.4.2 How does the Code fit with other Monitor requirements?

Although compliance with the provisions in this Code is on a "comply or explain" basis, we have included and clearly identified any relevant statutory requirements that fit closely with the Code. In the first instance, boards, directors and governors should ensure they are meeting the specific governance requirements described in the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and subsequently set out in The new NHS provider licence and Risk assessment framework. These are concerned with issues such as continuity of services, which is vital for effective patient care. In the list of disclosure requirements in Schedule A, we have clearly highlighted any provisions which are required as a result of legislation or other regulatory obligations.

It is important to note that as a result of NHS Foundation Trust Condition 4 of the NHS provider licence, trusts must also now provide a "forward looking governance statement" in the form of the corporate governance statement submitted during the annual planning round. Any issues that are raised at this forward plan stage can then be discussed to identify how they can be mitigated in advance of any breach taking place. However, any issues not identified and subsequently arising can be used as evidence of self-certification failure.

In addition to the corporate governance statement mentioned above, this Code sits alongside a number of other Monitor reporting requirements which relate to governance but do not conflict or connect with the Code. The Code also includes references to other Monitor publications, which focus on audit and on internal control:

- NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual;¹
- Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts.

9

¹ This is updated on a yearly basis and made available on our website.

For clarity, we have provided a detailed explanation of how the different requirements sit together and the purpose of each in Appendix C.

1.4.3 How will Monitor use the Code?

We will continue to oversee the effectiveness and applicability of the Code and develop it, in consultation with NHS foundation trusts where appropriate, as best practice both in the sector and outside of the sector evolves. We will also continue to ensure that any relevant changes or recommendations in the wider regulatory framework are reflected in updates to the Code and vice versa. Regarding disclosures made by trusts in respect of the Code, we will monitor widespread areas of non-compliance in more detail to assess whether there is evidence of systemic variation from the Code so that we can understand the reasons for that variation. In all cases, our activity will be dictated by our primary duty to patients.

As we noted above, NHS foundation trusts should also take note of the new <u>Risk</u> <u>assessment framework</u> (which came into effect on 1 October 2013), which sets out in detail our approach to overseeing NHS foundation trusts' compliance with the governance requirement of their provider licence. This includes important information about the board leadership and governance framework (which are also referenced in B.6.2. of this document).

1.4.4 Further information

NHS foundation trusts may also find it useful to consult other available guidance and sources of best practice about governance of public bodies and the NHS. In particular, the following publications are likely to be of use when considered alongside the Code:

- Your statutory duties: A reference guide for NHS foundation trust governors
- <u>Director-governor interaction in NHS foundation trusts: A best practice guide</u> for boards of directors
- The Healthy NHS Board 2013 Principles for Good Governance

In addition, leadership and governance in the public sector, and specifically in the NHS, is the subject of several reports, which might also be of interest:

- <u>Healthcare Leadership Model</u> is the result of recent work by the NHS Leadership Academy to set out the nine dimensions of leadership behaviour.
- <u>The Nolan Principles</u> covers in detail the standards of behaviour and principles in public life with particular focus on appointment on merit, with an independent element on all selection panels recommended as the way forward for public bodies.

<u>Board Governance Essentials: A Guide for Chairs and Boards of Public Bodies</u> developed by CIPFA (the Chartered Institute of Public Finance Accountants), this guide provides chairs and board members advice on the roles that they perform.

The main principles of the Code

Section A: Leadership

Every NHS foundation trust should be headed by an effective board of directors. The board is collectively responsible for the performance of the NHS foundation trust.

The general duty of the board of directors, and of each director individually, is to act with a view to promoting the success of the organisation so as to maximise the benefits for the members of the trust as a whole and for the public.

There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the head of the NHS foundation trust between the chairing of the boards of directors and the council of governors, and the executive responsibility for the running of the NHS foundation trust's affairs. No one individual should have unfettered powers of decision.

The chairperson is responsible for leadership of the board of directors and the council of governors, ensuring their effectiveness on all aspects of their role and leading on setting the agenda for meetings.

As part of their role as members of a unitary board, non-executive directors should constructively challenge and help develop proposals on strategy. Non-executive directors should also promote the functioning of the board as a unitary board.

The council of governors has a statutory duty to hold the non-executive directors individually and collectively to account for the performance of the board of directors. This includes ensuring the board of directors acts so that the foundation trust does not breach the conditions of its licence. It remains the responsibility of the board of directors to design and then implement agreed priorities, objectives and the overall strategy of the NHS foundation trust.

The council of governors is responsible for representing the interests of NHS foundation trust members and the public in the governance of the NHS foundation trust. Governors must act in the best interests of the NHS foundation trust and should adhere to its values and code of conduct.

Governors are responsible for regularly feeding back information about the trust, its vision and its performance to members and the public and the stakeholder organisations that either elected or appointed them. The trust should ensure governors have appropriate support to help them discharge this duty.

Section B: Effectiveness

The board of directors and its committees should have the appropriate balance of skills, experience, independence and knowledge of the NHS foundation trust to enable them to discharge their respective duties and responsibilities effectively.

There should be a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure for the appointment of new directors to the board. Directors of NHS foundation trusts must be "fit and proper" to meet the requirements of the general conditions of the provider licence.

All directors should be able to allocate sufficient time to the NHS foundation trust to discharge their responsibilities effectively.

All directors and governors should receive appropriate induction on joining the board of directors or the council of governors and should regularly update and refresh their skills and knowledge. Both directors and governors should make every effort to participate in training that is offered.

The board of directors and the council of governors should be supplied in a timely manner with relevant information in a form and of a quality appropriate to enable them to discharge their respective duties. Statutory requirements on the provision of information from the board of directors to the council of governors are provided in *Your statutory duties: A reference guide for NHS foundation trust governors*.

The board of directors should undertake a formal and rigorous annual evaluation of its own performance and that of its committees and individual directors.

The outcomes of the evaluation of the executive directors should be reported to the board of directors. The chair should take the lead on the evaluation of the executive directors.

The council of governors, which is responsible for the appointment and reappointment of non-executive directors, should take the lead on agreeing a process for the evaluation of the chairperson and the non-executives, with the chairperson and the non-executives. The outcomes of the evaluation of the non-executive directors should be agreed with them by the chairperson. The outcomes of the evaluation of the chairperson should be agreed by him or her with the senior independent director. The outcomes of the evaluation of the non-executive directors and the chairperson should be reported to the governors. The governors should bear in mind that it may be desirable to use the senior independent director to lead the evaluation of the chairperson.

The council of governors should assess its own collective performance and its impact on the NHS foundation trust.

All non-executive directors and elected governors should be submitted for reappointment or re-election at regular intervals. The performance of executive

directors of the board should be subject to regular appraisal and review. The council of governors should ensure planned and progressive refreshing of the non-executive directors.

The board of directors is responsible for ensuring ongoing compliance by the NHS foundation trust with its licence, its constitution, mandatory guidance issued by Monitor, relevant statutory requirements and contractual obligations. In so doing, it should ensure it retains the necessary skills within its board and directors, and works with the council of governors to ensure there is appropriate succession planning.

Section C: Accountability

The board of directors should present a fair, balanced and understandable assessment of the NHS foundation trust's position and prospects.

The board of directors is responsible for determining the nature and extent of the significant risks it is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives. The board should maintain sound risk management systems.

The board of directors should maintain a sound system of internal control to safeguard patient safety, public and private investment, the NHS foundation trust's assets, and service quality. The board should report on internal control through the Annual Governance Statement (formerly the Statement on Internal Control) in the annual report.

The board of directors should establish formal and transparent arrangements for considering how they should apply the corporate reporting and risk management and internal control principles and for maintaining an appropriate relationship with the NHS foundation trust's auditors.

Section D: Director remuneration

Levels of remuneration should be sufficient to attract, retain and motivate directors of quality, and with the skills and experience required to lead the NHS foundation trust successfully, but an NHS foundation trust should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose and should consider all relevant and current directions relating to contractual benefits such as pay and redundancy entitlements.

There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

Section E: Relations with stakeholders

The board of directors should appropriately consult and involve members, patients and the local community.

The council of governors must represent the interests of trust members and the public.

Notwithstanding the complementary role of the governors in this consultation, the board of directors as a whole has responsibility for ensuring that regular and open dialogue with its stakeholders takes place.

The board of directors is responsible for ensuring that the NHS foundation trust cooperates with other NHS bodies, local authorities and other relevant organisations with an interest in the local health economy.

Section A: Leadership

A.1 The role of the board of directors

Main principles

A.1.a. Every NHS foundation trust should be headed by an effective board of directors. The board is collectively responsible for the performance of the NHS foundation trust.

A.1.b. The general duty of the board of directors, and of each director individually, is to act with a view to promoting the success of the organisation so as to maximise the benefits for the members of the trust as a whole and for the public.

Supporting principles

A.1.c The role of the board of directors is to provide entrepreneurial leadership of the NHS foundation trust within a framework of prudent and effective controls, which enables risk to be assessed and managed.

A.1.d The board of directors is responsible for ensuring compliance by the NHS foundation trust with its licence, its constitution, mandatory guidance issued by Monitor, relevant statutory requirements and contractual obligations.

A.1.e The board of directors should develop and articulate a clear "vision" for the trust. This should be a formally agreed statement of the organisation's purpose and intended outcomes which can be used as a basis for the organisation's overall strategy, planning and other decisions.

A.1.f The board of directors should set the NHS foundation trust's strategic aims at least annually taking into consideration the views of the council of governors, ensuring that the necessary financial and human resources are in place for the NHS foundation trust to meet its priorities and objectives and, then, periodically reviewing progress and management performance.

A.1.g The board of directors as a whole is responsible for ensuring the quality and safety of health care services, education, training and research delivered by the NHS foundation trust and applying the principles and standards of clinical governance set out by the Department of Health (DH), NHS England, the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and other relevant NHS bodies.

A.1.h The board of directors should also ensure that the NHS foundation trust functions effectively, efficiently and economically.

A.1.i The board of directors should set the NHS foundation trust's vision, values and standards of conduct and ensure that its obligations to its members are understood, clearly communicated and met.

A.1.j All directors must take decisions objectively in the best interests of the NHS foundation trust and avoid conflicts of interest.

A.1.k All members of the board of directors have joint responsibility for every decision of the board regardless of their individual skills or status. This does not impact upon the particular responsibilities of the chief executive as the accounting officer.

A.1.I All directors, executive and non-executive, have a responsibility to constructively challenge during board discussions and help develop proposals on priorities, risk mitigation, values, standards and strategy.

A.1.m As part of their role as members of a unitary board, all directors have a duty to ensure appropriate challenge is made. In particular, non-executive directors should scrutinise the performance of the executive management in meeting agreed goals and objectives, receive adequate information and monitor the reporting of performance. They should satisfy themselves as to the integrity of financial, clinical and other information, and make sure that financial and clinical quality controls, and systems of risk management and governance, are robust and implemented. Non-executive directors are responsible for determining appropriate levels of remuneration of executive directors and have a prime role in appointing and, where necessary, removing executive directors, and in succession planning.

Code provisions

- A.1.1.The board of directors should meet sufficiently regularly to discharge its duties effectively. There should be a schedule of matters specifically reserved for its decision. The schedule of matters reserved for the board of directors should include a clear statement detailing the roles and responsibilities of the council of governors (as described in Section B). This statement should also describe how any disagreements between the council of governors and the board of directors will be resolved. The annual report should include this schedule of matters or a summary statement of how the board of directors and the council of governors operate, including a summary of the types of decisions to be taken by each of the boards and which are delegated to the executive management of the board of directors. These arrangements should be kept under review at least annually.
- A.1.2. The annual report should identify the chairperson, the deputy chairperson (where there is one), the chief executive, the senior independent director (see A.4.1) and the chairperson and members of the nominations, audit and remuneration committees. It should also set out the number of meetings of the board and those committees and individual attendance by directors.
- A.1.3. The board of directors should make available a statement of the objectives of the NHS foundation trust showing how it intends to balance the interests of patients,

the local community and other stakeholders, and use this as the basis for its decision-making and forward planning.

- A.1.4. The board of directors should ensure that adequate systems and processes are maintained to measure and monitor the NHS foundation trust's effectiveness, efficiency and economy as well as the quality of its health care delivery. The board should regularly review the performance of the NHS foundation trust in these areas against regulatory and contractual obligations, and approved plans and objectives.
- A.1.5 The board of directors should ensure that relevant metrics, measures, milestones and accountabilities are developed and agreed so as to understand and assess progress and delivery of performance. Where appropriate and, in particular, in high risk or complex areas, independent advice, for example, from the internal audit function, should be commissioned by the board of directors to provide an adequate and reliable level of assurance.
- A.1.6. The board of directors should report on its approach to clinical governance and its plan for the improvement of clinical quality in accordance with guidance set out by the DH, NHS England, the CQC and Monitor. The board should record where, within the structure of the organisation, consideration of clinical governance matters occurs.
- A.1.7. The chief executive as the accounting officer should follow the procedure set out by Monitor for advising the board of directors and the council of governors and for recording and submitting objections to decisions considered or taken by the board of directors in matters of propriety or regularity, and on issues relating to the wider responsibilities of the accounting officer for economy, efficiency and effectiveness.
- A.1.8. The board of directors should establish the constitution and standards of conduct for the NHS foundation trust and its staff in accordance with NHS values and accepted standards of behaviour in public life, which includes the principles of selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership (*The Nolan Principles*).
- A.1.9. The board of directors should operate a code of conduct that builds on the values of the NHS foundation trust and reflect high standards of probity and responsibility. The board of directors should follow a policy of openness and transparency in its proceedings and decision-making unless this is in conflict with a need to protect the wider interests of the public or the NHS foundation trust (including commercial-in-confidence matters) and make clear how potential conflicts of interest are dealt with.
- A.1.10. The NHS foundation trust should arrange appropriate insurance to cover the risk of legal action against its directors. Assuming the governors have acted in good faith and in accordance with their duties, and proper process has been followed, the

potential for liability for the council should be negligible. Governors may have the benefit of an indemnity and/or insurance from the trust. While there is no legal requirement for trusts to provide an indemnity or insurance for governors to cover their service on the council of governors, where an indemnity or insurance policy is given, this can be detailed in the trust's constitution.

A.2 Division of responsibilities

Main principle

A.2.a There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the head of the NHS foundation trust between the chairing of the boards of directors and the council of governors, and the executive responsibility for the running of the NHS foundation trust's affairs. No one individual should have unfettered powers of decision.

A.2.1. The division of responsibilities between the chairperson and chief executive should be clearly established, set out in writing and agreed by the board of directors.

Relevant statutory requirements

A.2.2.The roles of chairperson and chief executive must not be undertaken by the same individual.

A.3 The chairperson

Main principle

A.3.a The chairperson is responsible for leadership of the board of directors and the council of governors, ensuring their effectiveness on all aspects of their role and leading on setting the agenda for meetings.

Supporting principles

A.3.b The chairperson is responsible for leading on setting the agenda for the board of directors and the council of governors and ensuring that adequate time is available for discussion of all agenda items, in particular strategic issues.

A.3.c The chairperson is responsible for ensuring that the board and council work together effectively.

A.3.d The chairperson is also responsible for ensuring that directors and governors receive accurate, timely and clear information which enables them to perform their duties effectively. The chairperson should take steps to ensure that governors have the skills and knowledge they require to undertake their role.

A.3.e The chairperson should promote effective and open communication with patients, service users, members, staff, the public and other stakeholders.

A.3.f The chairperson should also promote a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the effective contribution of non-executive directors, in particular and ensuring constructive relations between executive and non-executive directors.

Code provision

A.3.1. The chairperson should, on appointment by the council of governors, meet the independence criteria set out in B.1.1. A chief executive should not go on to be the chairperson of the same NHS foundation trust.

A.4 Non-executive directors

Main principle

A.4.a As part of their role as members of a unitary board, non-executive directors should constructively challenge and help develop proposals on strategy. Non-executive directors should also promote the functioning of the board as a unitary board.

Supporting principles

A.4.b Non-executive directors should scrutinise the performance of management in meeting agreed goals and objectives, and monitor the reporting of performance. They should satisfy themselves on the integrity of financial information and that financial controls and systems of risk management are robust and defensible. They are responsible for determining appropriate levels of remuneration of executive directors and have a prime role in appointing, and where necessary, removing executive directors, and in succession planning.

Code provisions

A.4.1.In consultation with the council of governors, the board should appoint one of the independent non-executive directors to be the senior independent director to provide a sounding board for the chairperson and to serve as an intermediary for the other directors when necessary. The senior independent director should be available to governors if they have concerns that contact through the normal channels of chairperson, chief executive, finance director or trust secretary has failed to resolve, or for which such contact is inappropriate. The senior independent director could be the deputy chairperson.

A.4.2. The chairperson should hold meetings with the non-executive directors without the executives present. Led by the senior independent director, the non-executive directors should meet without the chairperson present, at least annually, to appraise the chairperson's performance, and on other such occasions as are deemed appropriate.

A.4.3. Where directors have concerns that cannot be resolved about the running of the NHS foundation trust or a proposed action, they should ensure that their

concerns are recorded in the board minutes. On resignation, a director should provide a written statement to the chairperson for circulation to the board, if they have any such concerns.

A.5 Governors

The 2012 Act made significant changes to the powers of, and obligations upon, governors of NHS foundation trusts. Monitor has described in this section of the Code those areas of the governors' role that are relevant and which NHS foundation trusts may find helpful.

In addition, in August 2013, Monitor published a separate document which examines how governors can deliver their duties: <u>Your statutory duties: A reference guide for NHS foundation trust governors.</u>

Main principles

A.5.a The council of governors has a duty to hold the non-executive directors individually and collectively to account for the performance of the board of directors. This includes ensuring the board of directors acts so that the foundation trust does not breach the conditions of its licence. It remains the responsibility of the board of directors to design and then implement agreed priorities, objectives and the overall strategy of the NHS foundation trust.

A.5.b The council of governors is responsible for representing the interests of NHS foundation trust members and the public and staff in the governance of the NHS foundation trust. Governors must act in the best interests of the NHS foundation trust and should adhere to its values and code of conduct.

A.5.c Governors are responsible for regularly feeding back information about the trust, its vision and its performance to members and the public and the stakeholder organisations that either elected or appointed them. The trust should ensure governors have appropriate support to help them discharge this duty.

Supporting principles

A.5.d Governors should discuss and agree with the board of directors how they will undertake these and any other additional roles, giving due consideration to the circumstances of the NHS foundation trust and the needs of the local community and emerging best practice.

A.5.e Governors should work closely with the board of directors and must be presented with, for consideration, the annual report and accounts and the annual plan at a general meeting. The governors must be consulted on the development of forward plans for the trust and any significant changes to the delivery of the trust's business plan.

A.5.f Governors should use their voting rights (including those described in A.5.14 and A.5.15) to hold the non-executive directors individually and collectively to account and act in the best interest of patients, members and the public. If the council of governors does withhold consent for a major decision, it must justify its reasons to the chair and the other non-executive directors, bearing in mind that its decision is likely to have a range of consequences for the NHS foundation trust. The council of governors should take care to ensure that reasons are considered, factual and within the spirit of the Nolan principles..

Code provisions

- A.5.1. The council of governors should meet sufficiently regularly to discharge its duties. Typically the council of governors would be expected to meet as a full council at least four times a year. Governors should, where practicable, make every effort to attend the meetings of the council of governors. The NHS foundation trust should take appropriate steps to facilitate attendance.
- A.5.2. The council of governors should not be so large as to be unwieldy. The council of governors should be of sufficient size for the requirements of its duties. The roles, structure, composition, and procedures of the council of governors should be reviewed regularly as described in provision B.6.5.
- A.5.3. The annual report should identify the members of the council of governors, including a description of the constituency or organisation that they represent, whether they were elected or appointed, and the duration of their appointments. The annual report should also identify the nominated lead governor. A record should be kept of the number of meetings of the council and the attendance of individual governors and it should be made available to members on request.
- A.5.4. The roles and responsibilities of the council of governors should be set out in a written document. This statement should include a clear explanation of the responsibilities of the council of governors towards members and other stakeholders and how governors will seek their views and keep them informed.
- A.5.5. The chairperson is responsible for leadership of both the board of directors and the council of governors (see A.3) but the governors also have a responsibility to make the arrangements work and should take the lead in inviting the chief executive to their meetings and inviting attendance by other executives and non-executives, as appropriate. In these meetings other members of the council of governors may raise questions of the chairperson or his/her deputy, or any other relevant director present at the meeting about the affairs of the NHS foundation trust.
- A.5.6. The council of governors should establish a policy for engagement with the board of directors for those circumstances when they have concerns about the performance of the board of directors, compliance with the *new provider licence* or

other matters related to the overall wellbeing of the NHS foundation trust. The council of governors should input into the board's appointment of a senior independent director (see A.4.1).

- A.5.7. The council of governors should ensure its interaction and relationship with the board of directors is appropriate and effective. In particular, by agreeing the availability and timely communication of relevant information, discussion and the setting in advance of meeting agendas and, where possible, using clear, unambiguous language.
- A.5.8. The council of governors should only exercise its power to remove the chairperson or any non-executive directors after exhausting all means of engagement with the board of directors. The council should raise any issues with the chairperson with the senior independent director in the first instance.
- A.5.9. The council of governors should receive and consider other appropriate information required to enable it to discharge its duties, for example clinical statistical data and operational data.

Relevant statutory requirements

- A.5.10 The council of governors has a statutory duty to hold the non-executive directors individually and collectively to account for the performance of the board of directors.
- A.5.11. The 2006 Act, as amended, gives the council of governors a statutory requirement to receive the following documents. These documents should be provided in the annual report as per the *NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual*:
 - (a) the annual accounts;
 - (b) any report of the auditor on them; and
 - (c) the annual report.
- A.5.12 The directors must provide governors with an agenda prior to any meeting of the board, and a copy of the approved minutes as soon as is practicable afterwards. There is no legal basis on which the minutes of private sessions of board meetings should be exempted from being shared with the governors. In practice, it may be necessary to redact some information, for example, for data protection or commercial reasons. Governors should respect the confidentiality of these documents.
- A.5.13 The council of governors may require one or more of the directors to attend a meeting to obtain information about performance of the trust's functions or the directors' performance of their duties, and to help the council of governors to decide whether to propose a vote on the trust's or directors' performance.

A.5.14 Governors have the right to refer a question to the independent panel for advising governors. More than 50% of governors who vote must approve this referral. The council should ensure dialogue with the board of directors takes place before considering such a referral, as it may be possible to resolve questions in this way.

A.5.15. Governors should use their new rights and voting powers from the 2012 Act to represent the interests of members and the public on major decisions taken by the board of directors. These new voting powers require:

- More than half of the members of the board of directors who vote and more than half of the members of the council of governors who vote to approve a change to the constitution of the NHS foundation trust.
- More than half of governors who vote to approve a significant transaction.
- More than half of all governors to approve an application by a trust for a merger, acquisition, separation or dissolution.
- More than half of governors who vote, to approve any proposal to increase
 the proportion of the trust's income earned from non-NHS work by 5% a year
 or more. For example, governors will be required to vote where an NHS
 foundation trust plans to increase its non-NHS income from 2% to 7% or
 more of the trust's total income.
- Governors to determine together whether the trust's non-NHS work will significantly interfere with the trust's principal purpose, which is to provide goods and services for the health service in England, or its ability to perform its other functions.

NHS foundation trusts are permitted to decide themselves what constitutes a "significant transaction" and may choose to set out the definition(s) in the trust's constitution. Alternatively, with the agreement of the governors, trusts may choose not to give a definition, but this would need to be stated in the constitution

Section B: Effectiveness

B.1 The composition of the board

Main principle

B.1.a The board of directors and its committees should have the appropriate balance of skills, experience, independence and knowledge of the NHS foundation trust to enable them to discharge their respective duties and responsibilities effectively.

Supporting principles

- B.1.b The board of directors should be of sufficient size that the requirements of the organisation can be met and that changes to the board's composition and that of its committees can be managed without undue disruption, and should not be so large as to be unwieldy.
- B.1.c The board of directors should include an appropriate combination of executive and non-executive directors (and in particular, independent non-executive directors) such that no individual or small group of individuals can dominate the board's decision taking.
- B.1.d All directors should be able to exercise one full vote, with the chairperson having a second or casting vote on occasions where voting is tied.
- B.1.e The value of ensuring that committee membership is refreshed and that undue reliance is not placed on particular individuals should be taken into account in deciding chairpersonship and the membership of committees. The value of appointing a non-executive director with a clinical background to the board of directors should be taken into account by the council of governors.
- B.1.f Only the committee chairperson and committee members are entitled to be present at meetings of the nominations, audit or remuneration committees, but others may attend by invitation of the particular committee.

Code provisions

B.1.1. The board of directors should identify in the annual report each non-executive director it considers to be independent. The board should determine whether the director is independent in character and judgement and whether there are relationships or circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear to affect, the director's judgement. The board of directors should state its reasons if it determines that a director is independent despite the existence of relationships or

circumstances which may appear relevant to its determination, including if the director:

- has been an employee of the NHS foundation trust within the last five years;
- has, or has had within the last three years, a material business relationship with the NHS foundation trust either directly, or as a partner, shareholder, director or senior employee of a body that has such a relationship with the NHS foundation trust:
- has received or receives additional remuneration from the NHS foundation trust apart from a director's fee, participates in the NHS foundation trust's performance-related pay scheme, or is a member of the NHS foundation trust's pension scheme;
- has close family ties with any of the NHS foundation trust's advisers, directors or senior employees;
- holds cross-directorships or has significant links with other directors through involvement in other companies or bodies;
- has served on the board of the NHS foundation trust for more than six years from the date of their first appointment; or
- is an appointed representative of the NHS foundation trust's university medical or dental school.
- B.1.2. At least half the board of directors, excluding the chairperson, should comprise non-executive directors determined by the board to be independent.
- B.1.3. No individual should hold, at the same time, positions of director and governor of any NHS foundation trust.
- B.1.4. The board of directors should include in its annual report a description of each director's skills, expertise and experience. Alongside this, in the annual report, the board should make a clear statement about its own balance, completeness and appropriateness to the requirements of the NHS foundation trust. Both statements should also be available on the NHS foundation trust's website.

B.2 Appointments to the board

Main principle

B.2.a There should be a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure for the appointment of new directors to the board. Directors of NHS foundation trusts must be "fit and proper" to meet the requirements of the general conditions of the provider licence.

Supporting principles

- B.2.b The search for candidates for the board of directors should be conducted, and appointments made, on merit, against objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the board and the requirements of the trust.
- B.2.c The board of directors and the council of governors should also satisfy themselves that plans are in place for orderly succession for appointments to the board, so as to maintain an appropriate balance of skills and experience within the NHS foundation trust and on the board.

Code provisions

- B.2.1. The nominations committee or committees, with external advice as appropriate, are responsible for the identification and nomination of executive and non-executive directors. The nominations committee should give full consideration to succession planning, taking into account the future challenges, risks and opportunities facing the NHS foundation trust and the skills and expertise required within the board of directors to meet them.
- B.2.2. Directors on the board of directors and governors on the council of governors should meet the "fit and proper" persons test described in the provider licence. For the purpose of the licence and application criteria, "fit and proper" persons are defined as those without certain recent criminal convictions and director disqualifications, and those who are not bankrupt (undischarged). In exceptional circumstances and at Monitor's discretion an exemption to this may be granted. Trusts should also abide by the updated guidance from the CQC regarding appointments to senior positions in organisations subject to CQC regulations
- B.2.3. There may be one or two nominations committees. If there are two committees, one will be responsible for considering nominations for executive directors and the other for non-executive directors (including the chairperson). The nominations committee(s) should regularly review the structure, size and composition of the board of directors and make recommendations for changes where appropriate. In particular, the nominations committee(s) should evaluate, at least annually, the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on the board of directors and, in the light of this evaluation, prepare a description of the role and capabilities required for appointment of both executive and non-executive directors, including the chairperson.
- B.2.4. The chairperson or an independent non-executive director should chair the nominations committee(s). In the case of appointments of non-executive directors or the chairperson, a governor should chair the committee.
- B.2.5. The governors should agree with the nominations committee a clear process for the nomination of a new chairperson and non-executive directors. Once suitable

candidates have been identified the nominations committee should make recommendations to the council of governors.

- B.2.6. Where an NHS foundation trust has two nominations committees, the nominations committee responsible for the appointment of non-executive directors should consist of a majority of governors. If only one nominations committee exists, when nominations for non-executives, including the appointment of a chairperson or a deputy chairperson, are being discussed, there should be a majority of governors on the committee and also a majority governor representation on the interview panel.
- B.2.7. When considering the appointment of non-executive directors, the council of governors should take into account the views of the board of directors and the nominations committee on the qualifications, skills and experience required for each position.
- B.2.8. The annual report should describe the process followed by the council of governors in relation to appointments of the chairperson and non-executive directors.
- B.2.9. An independent external adviser should not be a member of or have a vote on the nominations committee(s).
- B.2.10. A separate section of the annual report should describe the work of the nominations committee(s), including the process it has used in relation to board appointments. The main role and responsibilities of the nominations committee should be set out in publicly available, written terms of reference.

Relevant statutory requirements

- B.2.11. It is a requirement of the 2006 Act that the chairperson, the other non-executive directors and except in the case of the appointment of a chief executive the chief executive, are responsible for deciding the appointment of executive directors. The nominations committee with responsibility for executive director nominations should identify suitable candidates to fill executive director vacancies as they arise and make recommendations to the chairperson, the other non-executives directors and, except in the case of the appointment of a chief executive, the chief executive.
- B.2.12. It is for the non-executive directors to appoint and remove the chief executive. The appointment of a chief executive requires the approval of the council of governors.
- B.2.13 The governors are responsible at a general meeting for the appointment, reappointment and removal of the chairperson and the other non-executive directors.

B.3 Commitment

Main principle

B.3.a All directors should be able to allocate sufficient time to the NHS foundation trust to discharge their responsibilities effectively.

Code provisions

- B.3.1. For the appointment of a chairperson, the nominations committee should prepare a job specification defining the role and capabilities required including an assessment of the time commitment expected, recognising the need for availability in the event of emergencies. A chairperson's other significant commitments should be disclosed to the council of governors before appointment and included in the annual report. Changes to such commitments should be reported to the council of governors as they arise, and included in the next annual report. No individual, simultaneously whilst being a chairperson of an NHS foundation trust, should be the substantive chairperson of another NHS foundation trust.
- B.3.2.The terms and conditions of appointment of non-executive directors should be made available to the council of governors. The letter of appointment should set out the expected time commitment. Non-executive directors should undertake that they will have sufficient time to meet what is expected of them. Their other significant commitments should be disclosed to the council of governors before appointment, with a broad indication of the time involved and the council of governors should be informed of subsequent changes.
- B.3.3. The board of directors should not agree to a full-time executive director taking on more than one non-executive directorship of an NHS foundation trust or another organisation of comparable size and complexity, nor the chairpersonship of such an organisation.

B.4 Development

Main principle

B.4.a All directors and governors should receive appropriate induction on joining the board of directors or the council of governors and should regularly update and refresh their skills and knowledge. Both directors and governors should make every effort to participate in training that is offered.

Supporting principles

B.4.b The chairperson should ensure that directors and governors continually update their skills, knowledge and familiarity with the NHS foundation trust and its obligations to fulfil their role both on the board, the council of governors and on committees. The NHS foundation trust should provide the necessary resources for

developing and updating its directors' and governors' skills, knowledge and capabilities.

B.4.c To function effectively, all directors need appropriate knowledge of the NHS foundation trust and access to its operations and staff.

Code provisions

- B.4.1. The chairperson should ensure that new directors and governors receive a full and tailored induction on joining the board or the council of governors. As part of this, directors should seek out opportunities to engage with stakeholders, including patients, clinicians and other staff. Directors should also have access, at the NHS foundation trust's expense, to training courses and/or materials that are consistent with their individual and collective development programme.
- B.4.2. The chairperson should regularly review and agree with each director their training and development needs as they relate to their role on the board.

Relevant statutory requirements

B.4.3 The board has a duty to take steps to ensure that governors are equipped with the skills and knowledge they need to discharge their duties appropriately.

B.5 Information and support

Main principle

B.5.a The board of directors and the council of governors should be supplied in a timely manner with relevant information in a form and of a quality appropriate to enable them to discharge their respective duties. Statutory requirements on the provision of information from the board of directors to the council of governors are provided in <u>Your statutory duties: A reference guide for NHS foundation trust governors</u>.

Supporting principles

B.5.b The chairperson is responsible for ensuring that directors and governors receive accurate, timely and clear information. Management has an obligation to provide such information but directors and governors should seek clarification or detail where necessary.

B.5.c The responsibilities of the chairperson include ensuring good information flows across the board, the council of governors and their committees, between directors and governors, and between senior management and non-executive directors, as well as facilitating appropriate induction and assisting with professional development as required.

Code provisions

- B.5.1. The board of directors and the council of governors should be provided with high-quality information appropriate to their respective functions and relevant to the decisions they have to make. The board of directors and the council of governors should agree their respective information needs with the executive directors through the chairperson. The information for the boards should be concise, objective, accurate and timely, and it should be accompanied by clear explanations of complex issues. The board of directors should have complete access to any information about the NHS foundation trust that it deems necessary to discharge its duties, including access to senior management and other employees.
- B.5.2. The board of directors and in particular non-executive directors, may reasonably wish to challenge assurances received from the executive management. They need not seek to appoint a relevant adviser for each and every subject area that comes before the board of directors, although they should, wherever possible, ensure that they have sufficient information and understanding to enable challenge and to take decisions on an informed basis. When complex or high-risk issues arise, the first course of action should normally be to encourage further and deeper analysis to be carried out in a timely manner, within the NHS foundation trust. On occasion, non-executives may reasonably decide that external assurance is appropriate.
- B.5.3. The board should ensure that directors, especially non-executive directors, have access to the independent professional advice, at the NHS foundation trust's expense, where they judge it necessary to discharge their responsibilities as directors. Decisions to appoint an external adviser should be the collective decision of the majority of non-executive directors. The availability of independent external sources of advice should be made clear at the time of appointment.
- B.5.4 Committees should be provided with sufficient resources to undertake their duties. The board of directors should also ensure that the council of governors is provided with sufficient resources to undertake its duties with such arrangements agreed in advance.
- B.5.5. Non-executive directors should consider whether they are receiving the necessary information in a timely manner and feel able to raise appropriate challenge of recommendations of the board, in particular making full use of their skills and experience gained both as a director of the trust and also in other leadership roles. They should expect and apply similar standards of care and quality in their role as a non-executive director of an NHS foundation trust as they would in other similar roles.
- B.5.6. Governors should canvass the opinion of the trust's members and the public, and for appointed governors the body they represent, on the NHS foundation trust's forward plan, including its objectives, priorities and strategy, and their views should

be communicated to the board of directors. The annual report should contain a statement as to how this requirement has been undertaken and satisfied.

B.5.7. Where appropriate, the board of directors should take account of the views of the council of governors on the forward plan in a timely manner and communicate to the council of governors where their views have been incorporated in the NHS foundation trust's plans, and, if not, the reasons for this.

Relevant statutory requirements

B.5.8 The board of directors must have regard for the views of the council of governors on the NHS foundation trust's forward plan.

B.6 Evaluation

Main principles

B.6.a The board of directors should undertake a formal and rigorous annual evaluation of its own performance and that of its committees and individual directors.

B.6.b The outcomes of the evaluation of the executive directors should be reported to the board of directors. The chair should take the lead on the evaluation of the executive directors.

B.6.c The council of governors, which is responsible for the appointment and reappointment of non-executive directors, should take the lead on agreeing a process for the evaluation of the chairperson and the non-executives, with the chairperson and the non-executives. The outcomes of the evaluation of the non-executive directors should be agreed with them by the chairperson. The outcomes of the evaluation of the chairperson should be agreed by him or her with the senior independent director. The outcomes of the evaluation of the non-executive directors and the chairperson should be reported to the governors. The governors should bear in mind that it may be desirable to use the senior independent director to lead the evaluation of the chairperson.

B.6.d The council of governors should assess its own collective performance and its impact on the NHS foundation trust.

Supporting principles

B.6.e Evaluation of the board of directors should consider the balance of skills, experience, independence and knowledge of the NHS foundation trust on the board, its diversity, including gender, how the board works together as a unit, and other factors relevant to its effectiveness. This should be reported to the council of governors with a specific focus on what changes are needed for improvement.

B.6.f Individual evaluation of directors should aim to show whether each director continues to contribute effectively and to demonstrate commitment and has the

relevant skills for the role (including commitment of time for board and committee meetings and any other duties) going forwards.

B.6.g The chairperson should act on the results of the performance evaluation by recognising the strengths and addressing the weaknesses of the board, identifying individual and collective development needs, and, where appropriate, proposing new members be appointed to the board or seeking the resignation of directors.

B.6.h The focus of the chairperson's appraisal will be his/her performance as leader of the board of directors and the council of governors. The appraisal should carefully consider that performance against pre-defined objectives that support the design and delivery of the NHS foundation trust's priorities and strategy described in its forward plan.

Code provisions

- B.6.1. The board of directors should state in the annual report how performance evaluation of the board, its committees, and its directors, including the chairperson, has been conducted, bearing in mind the desirability for independent assessment, and the reason why the NHS foundation trust adopted a particular method of performance evaluation.
- B.6.2. Evaluation of the boards of NHS foundations trusts should be externally facilitated at least every three years. The evaluation needs to be carried out against the board leadership and governance framework set out by Monitor. The external facilitator should be identified in the annual report and a statement made as to whether they have any other connection to the trust.
- B.6.3. The senior independent director should lead the performance evaluation of the chairperson, within a framework agreed by the council of governors and taking into account the views of directors and governors.
- B.6.4. The chairperson, with assistance of the board secretary, if applicable, should use the performance evaluations as the basis for determining individual and collective professional development programmes for non-executive directors relevant to their duties as board members.
- B.6.5. Led by the chairperson, the council of governors should periodically assess their collective performance and they should regularly communicate to members and the public details on how they have discharged their responsibilities, including their impact and effectiveness on:
 - holding the non-executive directors individually and collectively to account for the performance of the board of directors.
 - communicating with their member constituencies and the public and transmitting their views to the board of directors; and

contributing to the development of forward plans of NHS foundation trusts.

The council of governors should use this process to review its roles, structure, composition and procedures, taking into account emerging best practice. Further information can be found in Monitor's publication: <u>Your statutory duties: A reference guide for NHS foundation trust governors.</u>

B.6.6. There should be a clear policy and a fair process, agreed and adopted by the council of governors, for the removal from the council of any governor who consistently and unjustifiability fails to attend the meetings of the council of governors or has an actual or potential conflict of interest which prevents the proper exercise of their duties. This should be shared with governors. In addition, it may be appropriate for the process to provide for removal from the council of governors where behaviours or actions of a governor or group of governors may be incompatible with the values and behaviours of the NHS foundation trust. Where there is any disagreement as to whether the proposal for removal is justified, an independent assessor agreeable to both parties should be requested to consider the evidence and determine whether the proposed removal is reasonable or otherwise.

B.7 Re-appointment of directors and re-election of governors

Main principle

B.7.a All non-executive directors and elected governors should be submitted for reappointment or re-election at regular intervals. The performance of executive directors of the board should be subject to regular appraisal and review. The council of governors should ensure planned and progressive refreshing of the non-executive directors.

Code provisions

B.7.1. In the case of re-appointment of non-executive directors, the chairperson should confirm to the governors that following formal performance evaluation, the performance of the individual proposed for re-appointment continues to be effective and to demonstrate commitment to the role. Any term beyond six years (eg, two three-year terms) for a non-executive director should be subject to particularly rigorous review, and should take into account the need for progressive refreshing of the board. Non-executive directors may, in exceptional circumstances, serve longer than six years (eg, two three-year terms following authorisation of the NHS foundation trust) but this should be subject to annual re-appointment. Serving more than six years could be relevant to the determination of a non-executive's independence.

B.7.2. Elected governors must be subject to re-election by the members of their constituency at regular intervals not exceeding three years. The names of governors submitted for election or re-election should be accompanied by sufficient

biographical details and any other relevant information to enable members to take an informed decision on their election. This should include prior performance information.

Relevant statutory requirements

B.7.3. Approval by the council of governors of the appointment of a chief executive should be a subject of the first general meeting after the appointment by a committee of the chairperson and non-executive directors. All other executive directors should be appointed by a committee of the chief executive, the chairperson and non-executive directors.

B.7.4 Non-executive directors, including the chairperson should be appointed by the council of governors for the specified terms subject to re-appointment thereafter at intervals of no more than three years and subject to the 2006 Act provisions relating to removal of a director.

B.7.5 Elected governors must be subject to re-election by the members of their constituency at regular intervals not exceeding three years.

B.8 Resignation of directors

Main principle

B.8.a The board of directors is responsible for ensuring ongoing compliance by the NHS foundation trust with its licence, its constitution, mandatory guidance issued by Monitor, relevant statutory requirements and contractual obligations. In so doing, it should ensure it retains the necessary skills within its board and directors and works with the council of governors to ensure there is appropriate succession planning.

Code provision

B.8.1 The remuneration committee should not agree to an executive member of the board leaving the employment of an NHS foundation trust, except in accordance with the terms of their contract of employment, including but not limited to service of their full notice period and/or material reductions in their time commitment to the role, without the board first having completed and approved a full risk assessment.

Section C. Accountability

C.1 Financial, quality and operational reporting

Main principle

C.1.a The board of directors should present a fair, balanced and understandable assessment of the NHS foundation trust's position and prospects.

Supporting principle

- C.1.b The responsibility of the board of directors to present a fair, balanced and understandable assessment extends to all public statements and reports to regulators and inspectors, as well as information required to be presented by statutory requirements.
- C.1.c The board of directors should establish arrangements that will enable it to ensure that the information presented is fair, balanced and understandable.

Code provisions

- C.1.1. The directors should explain in the annual report their responsibility for preparing the annual report and accounts, and state that they consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and provide the information necessary for patients, regulators and other stakeholders to assess the NHS foundation trust's performance, business model and strategy. There should be a statement by the external auditor about their reporting responsibilities. Directors should also explain their approach to quality governance in the Annual Governance Statement (within the annual report).
- C.1.2. The directors should report that the NHS foundation trust is a going concern with supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary.
- C.1.3. At least annually and in a timely manner, the board of directors should set out clearly its financial, quality and operating objectives for the NHS foundation trust and disclose sufficient information, both quantitative and qualitative, of the NHS foundation trust's business and operation, including clinical outcome data, to allow members and governors to evaluate its performance. Further requirements are included in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.

Relevant statutory requirements

C.1.4.

a) The board of directors must notify Monitor and the council of governors without delay and should consider whether it is in the public's interest to bring to the public attention, any major new developments in the NHS foundation trust's sphere of activity which are not public knowledge, which it is able to

- disclose and which may lead by virtue of their effect on its assets and liabilities, or financial position or on the general course of its business, to a substantial change to the financial wellbeing, health care delivery performance or reputation and standing of the NHS foundation trust.
- b) The board of directors must notify Monitor and the council of governors without delay and should consider whether it is in the public interest to bring to public attention all relevant information which is not public knowledge concerning a material change in:
 - the NHS foundation trust's financial condition;
 - the performance of its business; and/or
 - the NHS foundation trust's expectations as to its performance which, if made public, would be likely to lead to a substantial change to the financial wellbeing, health care delivery performance or reputation and standing of the NHS foundation trust.

C.2 Risk management and internal control

Main principles

- C.2.a The board of directors is responsible for determining the nature and extent of the significant risks it is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives. The board should maintain sound risk management systems.
- C.2.b The board of directors should maintain a sound system of internal control to safeguard patient safety, public and private investment, the NHS foundation trust's assets, and service quality. The board should report on internal control through the Annual Governance Statement (formerly the Statement on Internal Control) in the annual report.

Supporting principles

- C.2.c An internal audit function can assist a trust to accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluating and continually improving the effectiveness of its risk management and internal control processes.
- C.2.d If a trust has an internal audit function, the head of that function should have a direct reporting line to the board or to the audit committee to bring the requisite degree of independence and objectivity to the role.

Code provision

C.2.1. The board of directors should maintain continuous oversight of the effectiveness of the NHS foundation trust's risk management and internal control systems and should report to members and governors that they have done so. A

regular review should cover all material controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls.

C.2.2 A trust should disclose in the annual report:

- (a) if it has an internal audit function, how the function is structured and what role it performs; or
- (b) if it does not have an internal audit function, that fact and the processes it employs for evaluating and continually improving the effectiveness of its risk management and internal control processes.

C.3 Audit committee and auditors

Main principle

C.3.a The board of directors should establish formal and transparent arrangements for considering how they should apply the corporate reporting and risk management and internal control principles and for maintaining an appropriate relationship with the NHS foundation trust's auditors.

Monitor's publications, <u>Audit Code for NHS Foundation Trusts</u> and <u>Your statutory</u> <u>duties: A reference guide for NHS foundation trust governors</u>, provide further guidance.

Code provision

- C.3.1. The board of directors should establish an audit committee composed of at least three members who are all independent non-executive directors. The board should satisfy itself that the membership of the audit committee has sufficient skills to discharge its responsibilities effectively, including ensuring that at least one member of the audit committee has recent and relevant financial experience. The chairperson of the trust should not chair or be a member of the audit committee. He can, however, attend meetings by invitation as appropriate.
- C.3.2. The main role and responsibilities of the audit committee should be set out in publicly available, written terms of reference. The council of governors should be consulted on the terms of reference, which should be reviewed and refreshed regularly. It should include details of how it will:
 - Monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the NHS foundation trust, and any formal announcements relating to the trust's financial performance, reviewing significant financial reporting judgements contained in them;
 - Review the NHS foundation trust's internal financial controls and, unless expressly addressed by a separate board risk committee composed of independent directors, or by the board itself, review the trust's internal control and risk management systems;

- Monitor and review the effectiveness of the NHS foundation trust's internal audit function, taking into consideration relevant UK professional and regulatory requirements;
- Review and monitor the external auditor's independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process, taking into consideration relevant UK professional and regulatory requirements;
- Develop and implement policy on the engagement of the external auditor to supply non-audit services, taking into account relevant ethical guidance regarding the provision of non-audit services by the external audit firm; and
- Report to the council of governors, identifying any matters in respect of which it considers that action or improvement is needed and making recommendations as to the steps to be taken.
- C.3.3. The council of governors should take the lead in agreeing with the audit committee the criteria for appointing, re-appointing and removing external auditors. The council of governors will need to work hard to ensure they have the skills and knowledge to choose the right external auditor and monitor their performance. However, they should be supported in this task by the audit committee, which provides information to the governors on the external auditor's performance as well as overseeing the NHS foundation trust's internal financial reporting and internal auditing.
- C.3.4. The audit committee should make a report to the council of governors in relation to the performance of the external auditor, including details such as the quality and value of the work and the timeliness of reporting and fees, to enable to council of governors to consider whether or not to re-appoint them. The audit committee should also make recommendation to the council of governors about the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditor and approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor.
- C.3.5 If the council of governors does not accept the audit committee's recommendation, the board of directors should include in the annual report a statement from the audit committee explaining the recommendation and should set out reasons why the council of governors has taken a different position.
- C.3.6. The NHS foundation trust should appoint an external auditor for a period of time which allows the auditor to develop a strong understanding of the finances, operations and forward plans of the NHS foundation trust. The current best practice is for a three- to five-year period of appointment.
- C.3.7. When the council of governors ends an external auditor's appointment in disputed circumstances, the chairperson should write to Monitor informing it of the reasons behind the decision.

C.3.8. The audit committee should review arrangements that allow staff of the NHS foundation trust and other individuals where relevant, to raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting and control, clinical quality, patient safety or other matters. The audit committee's objective should be to ensure that arrangements are in place for the proportionate and independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up action. This should include ensuring safeguards for those who raise concerns are in place and operating effectively. Such processes should enable individuals or groups to draw formal attention to practices that are unethical or violate internal or external policies, rules or regulations and to ensure that valid concerns are promptly addressed. These processes should also reassure individuals raising concerns that they will be protected from potential negative repercussions.

C.3.9. A separate section of the annual report should describe the work of the committee in discharging its responsibilities. The report should include:

- the significant issues that the committee considered in relation to financial statements, operations and compliance, and how these issues were addressed;
- an explanation of how it has assessed the effectiveness of the external audit
 process and the approach taken to the appointment or re-appointment of the
 external auditor, the value of external audit services and information on the
 length of tenure of the current audit firm and when a tender was last
 conducted; and
- if the external auditor provides non-audit services, the value of the non-audit services provided and an explanation of how auditor objectivity and independence are safeguarded.

Section D. Remuneration

D.1 The level and components of remuneration

Main principle

D.1.a Levels of remuneration should be sufficient to attract, retain and motivate directors of quality, and with the skills and experience required to lead the NHS foundation trust successfully, but an NHS foundation trust should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose and should consider all relevant and current directions relating to contractual benefits such as pay and redundancy entitlements.

Supporting principles

D.1.b Any performance-related elements of executive directors' remuneration should be stretching and designed to promote the long-term sustainability of the NHS foundation trust. They should also take as a baseline for performance any competencies required and specified within the job description for the post.

D.1.c The remuneration committee should decide if a proportion of executive director's remuneration should be structured so as to link reward to corporate and individual performance. The remuneration committee should judge where to position its NHS foundation trust relative to other NHS foundation trusts and comparable organisations. Such comparisons should be used with caution to avoid any risk of an increase in remuneration levels with no corresponding improvement in performance.

D.1.d The remuneration committee should also be sensitive to pay and employment conditions elsewhere in the NHS foundation trust, especially when determining annual salary increases.

Code provisions

- D.1.1. Any performance-related elements of the remuneration of executive directors should be designed to align their interests with those of patients, service users and taxpayers and to give these directors keen incentives to perform at the highest levels. In designing schemes of performance-related remuneration, the remuneration committee should consider the following provisions:
 - i) The remuneration committee should consider whether the directors should be eligible for annual bonuses in line with local procedures. If so, performance conditions should be relevant, stretching and designed to match the long-term interests of the public and patients.
 - ii) Payouts or grants under all incentive schemes should be subject to challenging performance criteria reflecting the objectives of the NHS foundation trust. Consideration should be given to criteria which reflect the performance of the NHS foundation trust relative to a group of comparator

- trusts in some key indicators, and the taking of independent and expert advice where appropriate.
- iii) Performance criteria and any upper limits for annual bonuses and incentive schemes should be set and disclosed.
- iv) The remuneration committee should consider the pension consequences and associated costs to the NHS foundation trust of basic salary increases and any other changes in pensionable remuneration, especially for directors close to retirement.
- D.1.2. Levels of remuneration for the chairperson and other non-executive directors should reflect the time commitment and responsibilities of their roles.
- D.1.3. Where an NHS foundation trust releases an executive director, for example to serve as a non-executive director elsewhere, the remuneration disclosures of the annual report should include a statement of whether or not the director will retain such earnings.
- D.1.4. The remuneration committee should carefully consider what compensation commitments (including pension contributions and all other elements) their directors' terms of appointments would give rise to in the event of early termination. The aim should be to avoid rewarding poor performance. Contracts should allow for compensation to be reduced to reflect a departing director's obligation to mitigate loss. Appropriate claw-back provisions should be considered in case of a director returning to the NHS within the period of any putative notice.

D.2 Procedure

Main principle

D.2.a There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be involved in deciding his or her own remuneration.

Supporting principle

- D.2.b The remuneration committee should consult the chairperson and/or chief executive about its proposals relating to the remuneration of other executive directors.
- D.2.c The remuneration committee should also be responsible for appointing any independent consultants in respect of executive director remuneration.
- D.2.d Where executive directors or senior management are involved in advising or supporting the remuneration committee, care should be taken to recognise and avoid conflicts of interest.

Code provisions

- D.2.1. The board of directors should establish a remuneration committee composed of non-executive directors which should include at least three independent non-executive directors. The remuneration committee should make available its terms of reference, explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by the board of directors. Where remuneration consultants are appointed, a statement should be made available as to whether they have any other connection with the NHS foundation trust.
- D.2.2. The remuneration committee should have delegated responsibility for setting remuneration for all executive directors, including pension rights and any compensation payments. The committee should also recommend and monitor the level and structure of remuneration for senior management. The definition of senior management for this purpose should be determined by the board, but should normally include the first layer of management below board level.
- D.2.3. The council of governors should consult external professional advisers to market-test the remuneration levels of the chairperson and other non-executives at least once every three years and when they intend to make a material change to the remuneration of a non-executive.

Relevant statutory requirements

D.2.4 The council of governors is responsible for setting the remuneration of non-executive directors and the chairperson.

Section E. Relations with stakeholders

E.1 Dialogue with members, patients and the local community

Main principle

- E.1 a The board of directors should appropriately consult and involve members, patients and the local community.
- E.1.b The council of governors must represent the interests of trust members and the public.
- E.1.c Notwithstanding the complementary role of the governors in this consultation, the board of directors as a whole has responsibility for ensuring that regular and open dialogue with its stakeholders takes place.

Supporting principles

- E.1.d The board of directors should keep in touch with the opinion of members, patients and the local community in whatever ways are most practical and efficient. There should be a members' meeting at least annually.
- E.1.e The chairperson (and the senior independent director and other directors as appropriate) should maintain regular contact with governors to understand their issues and concerns.
- E.1.f NHS foundation trusts should use an open annual meeting and open board meetings, both of which trusts are required to hold, to encourage stakeholder engagement.
- E.1.g Governors should seek the views of members and the public on material issues or changes being discussed by the trust. Governors should provide information and feedback to members and the public regarding the trust, its vision, performance and material strategic proposals made by the trust board.
- E.1.f It is also incumbent on the board of directors to ensure governors have the mechanisms in place to secure and report on feedback that will enable them to fulfil their duty to represent the interests of members and the public

Code provisions

- E.1.1. The board of directors should make available a public document that sets out its policy on the involvement of members, patients and the local community at large, including a description of the kind of issues it will consult on.
- E.1.2. The board of directors should clarify in writing how the public interests of patients and the local community will be represented, including its approach for addressing the overlap and interface between governors and any local consultative

forums (eg, Local Healthwatch, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the local League of Friends, and staff groups).

- E.1.3. The chairperson should ensure that the views of governors and members are communicated to the board as a whole. The chairperson should discuss the affairs of the NHS foundation trust with governors. Non-executive directors should be offered the opportunity to attend meetings with governors and should expect to attend them if requested by governors. The senior independent director should attend sufficient meetings with governors to listen to their views in order to help develop a balanced understanding of the issues and concerns of governors.
- E.1.4. The board of directors should ensure that the NHS foundation trust provides effective mechanisms for communication between governors and members from its constituencies. Contact procedures for members who wish to communicate with governors and/or directors should be made clearly available to members on the NHS foundation trust's website and in the annual report.
- E.1.5. The board of directors should state in the annual report the steps they have taken to ensure that the members of the board, and in particular the non-executive directors, develop an understanding of the views of governors and members about the NHS foundation trust, for example through attendance at meetings of the council of governors, direct face-to-face contact, surveys of members' opinions and consultations.
- E.1.6.The board of directors should monitor how representative the NHS foundation trust's membership is and the level and effectiveness of member engagement and report on this in the annual report. This information should be used to review the trust's membership strategy, taking into account any emerging best practice from the sector.

Relevant statutory requirements

- E.1.7. The board of directors must make board meetings and the annual meeting open to the public. The trust's constitution may provide for members of the public to be excluded from a meeting for special reasons.
- E.1.8 The trust must hold annual members' meetings. At least one of the directors must present the trust's annual report and accounts, and any report of the auditor on the accounts, to members at this meeting.

E.2 Co-operation with third parties with roles in relation to NHS foundation trusts

Main principle

E.2.a The board of directors is responsible for ensuring that the NHS foundation trust co-operates with other NHS bodies, local authorities and other relevant organisations with an interest in the local health economy.

Supporting principle

E.2.b The board of directors should enter a dialogue at an appropriate level with a range of third party stakeholders and other interested organisations with roles in relation to NHS foundation trusts based on the mutual understanding of objectives.

Code provisions

- E.2.1. The board of directors should be clear as to the specific third party bodies in relation to which the NHS foundation trust has a duty to co-operate. The board of directors should be clear of the form and scope of the co-operation required with each of these third party bodies in order to discharge their statutory duties.
- E.2.2. The board of directors should ensure that effective mechanisms are in place to co-operate with relevant third party bodies and that collaborative and productive relationships are maintained with relevant stakeholders at appropriate levels of seniority in each. The board of directors should review the effectiveness of these processes and relationships annually and, where necessary, take proactive steps to improve them.

Schedule A: Disclosure of corporate governance arrangements

NHS foundation trusts are required to provide a specific set of disclosures to meet the requirements of the *NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance*, which should be submitted as part of the Annual Report (as referenced in the *NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual*). The following list specifies everything that is required within this separate disclosure.

Below are the statutory requirements that we have highlighted in the Code.
 This supersedes the "comply or explain" requirements of the Code.
 However, there is no need to report on these provisions in the Code disclosure.

Reference	Statutory requirement:
A.5.10	The council of governors has a statutory duty to hold the non-executive directors individually and collectively to account for the performance of the board of directors.
A.5.11	The 2006 Act, as amended, gives the council of governors a statutory requirement to receive the following documents. These documents should be provided in the annual report as per the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual:
	(a) the annual accounts;
	(b) any report of the auditor on them; and
	(c) the annual report.
A.5.12	The directors must provide governors with an agenda prior to any meeting of the board, and a copy of the approved minutes as soon as is practicable afterwards. There is no legal basis on which the minutes of private sessions of board meetings should be exempted from being shared with the governors. In practice, it may be necessary to redact some information, for example, for data protection or commercial reasons. Governors should respect the confidentiality of these documents.
A.5.13	The council of governors may require one or more of the directors to attend a meeting to obtain information about performance of the trust's functions or the directors' performance of their duties, and to help the council of governors to decide whether to propose a vote on the trust's or directors' performance.
A.5.14	Governors have the right to refer a question to the independent panel for advising governors. More than 50% of governors who vote must approve this referral. The council should ensure dialogue with the board of directors takes place before considering such a referral, as it

	may be possible to resolve questions in this way.
A.5.15	Governors should use their new rights and voting powers from the 2012 Act to represent the interests of members and the public on major decisions taken by the board of directors. These are outlined in full at A.5.15.
B.2.11	It is a requirement of the 2006 Act that the chairperson, the other non-executive directors and – except in the case of the appointment of a chief executive – the chief executive, are responsible for deciding the appointment of executive directors. The nominations committee with responsibility for executive director nominations should identify suitable candidates to fill executive director vacancies as they arise and make recommendations to the chairperson, the other non-executives directors and, except in the case of the appointment of a chief executive, the chief executive.
B.2.12	It is for the non-executive directors to appoint and remove the chief executive. The appointment of a chief executive requires the approval of the council of governors.
B.2.13	The governors are responsible at a general meeting for the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the chairperson and the other non-executive directors.
B.4.3	The board has a duty to take steps to ensure that governors are equipped with the skills and knowledge they need to discharge their duties appropriately.
B.5.8	The board of directors must have regard for the views of the council of governors on the NHS foundation trust's forward plan.
B.7.3.	Approval by the council of governors of the appointment of a chief executive should be a subject of the first general meeting after the appointment by a committee of the chairperson and non-executive directors. All other executive directors should be appointed by a committee of the chief executive, the chairperson and non-executive directors.
B.7.4	Non-executive directors, including the chairperson should be appointed by the council of governors for the specified terms subject to reappointment thereafter at intervals of no more than three years and subject to the 2006 Act provisions relating to removal of a director.
B.7.5	Elected governors must be subject to re-election by the members of their constituency at regular intervals not exceeding three years.
C.1.4	C.1.4. c) The board of directors must notify Monitor and the council of governors without delay and should consider whether it is in the public's interest to bring to the public attention, any major new developments in the NHS foundation trust's sphere of activity which are not public knowledge, which it is able to disclose and

	which may lead by virtue of their effect on its assets and liabilities, or financial position or on the general course of its business, to a substantial change to the financial wellbeing, health care delivery performance or reputation and standing of the NHS foundation trust. d) The board of directors must notify Monitor and the council of governors without delay and should consider whether it is in the public interest to bring to public attention all relevant information which is not public knowledge concerning a material change in: • the NHS foundation trust's financial condition; • the performance of its business; and/or • the NHS foundation trust's expectations as to its performance which, if made public, would be likely to lead to a substantial change to the financial wellbeing, health care delivery performance or reputation and standing of the NHS foundation trust.
D.2.4	The council of governors is responsible for setting the remuneration of non-executive directors and the chairperson.
E.1.7.	The board of directors must make board meetings and the annual meeting open to the public. The trust's constitution may provide for members of the public to be excluded from a meeting for special reasons.
E.1.8	The trust must hold annual members' meetings. At least one of the directors must present the trust's annual report and accounts, and any report of the auditor on the accounts, to members at this meeting.

2. The provisions listed below require a supporting explanation, even in the case that the NHS foundation trust is compliant with the provision. Where the information is already contained within the annual report, a reference to its location is sufficient to avoid unnecessary duplication.

Provision	Requirement
A.1.1	This statement should also describe how any disagreements between the council of governors and the board of directors will be resolved. The annual report should include this schedule of matters or a summary statement of how the board of directors and the council of governors operate, including a summary of the types of decisions to be taken by each of the boards and which are delegated to the executive management of the board of directors.
A.1.2	The annual report should identify the chairperson, the deputy chairperson (where there is one), the chief executive, the senior independent director (see A.4.1) and the chairperson and members of the nominations, audit and remuneration committees. It should also set out the number of meetings of the board and those committees and individual attendance by directors.
A.5.3	The annual report should identify the members of the council of

	governors, including a description of the constituency or organisation that they represent, whether they were elected or appointed, and the duration
	of their appointments. The annual report should also identify the nominated lead governor.
B.1.1	The board of directors should identify in the annual report each non-
	executive director it considers to be independent, with reasons where
	necessary.
B.1.4	The board of directors should include in its annual report a description of
	each director's skills, expertise and experience. Alongside this, in the
	annual report, the board should make a clear statement about its own
	balance, completeness and appropriateness to the requirements of the
	NHS foundation trust.
B.2.10	A separate section of the annual report should describe the work of the
	nominations committee(s), including the process it has used in relation to
	board appointments.
B.3.1	A chairperson's other significant commitments should be disclosed to the
	council of governors before appointment and included in the annual
	report. Changes to such commitments should be reported to the council
	of governors as they arise, and included in the next annual report.
B.5.6	Governors should canvass the opinion of the trust's members and the
	public, and for appointed governors the body they represent, on the NHS
	foundation trust's forward plan, including its objectives, priorities and
	strategy, and their views should be communicated to the board of
	directors. The annual report should contain a statement as to how this
	requirement has been undertaken and satisfied.
B.6.1	The board of directors should state in the annual report how performance
	evaluation of the board, its committees, and its directors, including the
	chairperson, has been conducted.
B.6.2	Where an external facilitator is used for reviews of governance, they
	should be identified and a statement made as to whether they have any
	other connection with the trust.
C.1.1	The directors should explain in the annual report their responsibility for
	preparing the annual report and accounts, and state that they consider
	the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and
	understandable and provide the information necessary for patients,
	regulators and other stakeholders to assess the NHS foundation trust's
	performance, business model and strategy. There should be a statement
	by the external auditor about their reporting responsibilities. Directors
	should also explain their approach to quality governance in the Annual
C.2.1	Governance Statement (within the annual report). The annual report should contain a statement that the board has
0.2.1	conducted a review of the effectiveness of its system of internal controls.
C.2.2	A trust should disclose in the annual report:
0.2.2	(a) if it has an internal audit function, how the function is structured
	and what role it performs; or
	(b) if it does not have an internal audit function, that fact and the
	processes it employs for evaluating and continually improving the
	effectiveness of its risk management and internal control
	processes.
C.3.5	If the council of governors does not accept the audit committee's
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

	recommendation on the appointment, reappointment or removal of an external auditor, the board of directors should include in the annual report a statement from the audit committee explaining the recommendation and should set out reasons why the council of governors has taken a different position.
C.3.9	 A separate section of the annual report should describe the work of the committee in discharging its responsibilities. The report should include: the significant issues that the committee considered in relation to financial statements, operations and compliance, and how these issues were addressed; an explanation of how it has assessed the effectiveness of the
	 external audit process and the approach taken to the appointment or re-appointment of the external auditor, the value of external audit services and information on the length of tenure of the current audit firm and when a tender was last conducted; and if the external auditor provides non-audit services, the value of the non-audit services provided and an explanation of how auditor objectivity and independence are safeguarded.
D.1.3	Where an NHS foundation trust releases an executive director, for example to serve as a non-executive director elsewhere, the remuneration disclosures of the annual report should include a statement of whether or not the director will retain such earnings.
E.1.5	The board of directors should state in the annual report the steps they have taken to ensure that the members of the board, and in particular the non-executive directors, develop an understanding of the views of governors and members about the NHS foundation trust, for example through attendance at meetings of the council of governors, direct faceto-face contact, surveys of members' opinions and consultations.
E.1.6	The board of directors should monitor how representative the NHS foundation trust's membership is and the level and effectiveness of member engagement and report on this in the annual report.

3. The provisions listed below require supporting information to be made **publicly available** even in the case that the NHS foundation trust is compliant with the provision. This requirement can be met by making supporting information available on request and on the NHS foundation trust's website.

Provision	Information required on website:
A.1.3	The board of directors should make available a statement of the objectives of the NHS foundation trust showing how it intends to balance the interests of patients, the local community and other stakeholders, and use this as the basis for its decision-making and forward planning.
B.1.4	A description of each director's expertise and experience, with a clear statement about the board of director's balance, completeness and appropriateness.
B.2.10	The main role and responsibilities of the nominations committee should be set out in publicly available, written terms of reference.
B.3.2	The terms and conditions of appointment of non-executive directors.
C.3.3	The main role and responsibilities of the audit committee should be set out in publicly available, written terms of reference.
D.2.1	The remuneration committee should make available its terms of reference, explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by the board of directors. Where remuneration consultants are appointed, a statement should be made available as to whether they have any other connection with the NHS foundation trust.
E.1.1	The board of directors should make available a public document that sets out its policy on the involvement of members, patients and the local community at large, including a description of the kind of issues it will consult on.
E.1.4	Contact procedures for members who wish to communicate with governors and/or directors should be made clearly available to members on the NHS foundation trust's website.

4. The provisions listed below require supporting information to be made **available to governors**, even in the case that the NHS foundation trust is compliant with the provision. This information should be set out in papers accompanying a resolution to re-appoint a non-executive director.

Provision	Information required:
B.7.2	In the case of re-appointment of non-executive directors, the chairperson
	should confirm to the governors that following formal performance
	evaluation, the performance of the individual proposed for re-appointment
	continues to be effective and to demonstrate commitment to the role.

5. The provisions listed below require supporting information to be made **available to members**, even in the case that the NHS foundation trust is compliant with the provision. This information should be set out in papers accompanying a resolution to elect or re-elect a governor.

Provision	Information required:
B.7.2	The names of governors submitted for election or re-election should be accompanied by sufficient biographical details and any other relevant information to enable members to take an informed decision on their election. This should include prior performance information.

6. For all provisions listed below there are no special requirements as per 1-6 above. For these provisions, the basic "comply or explain" requirement stands. The disclosure should therefore contain an explanation in each case where the trust has departed from the Code, explaining the reasons for the departure and how the alternative arrangements continue to reflect the main principles of the Code (page 13-16).

A disclosure is only required for **departures** from the Code for the provisions listed in this section. NHS foundation trusts are welcome but not required to provide a simple statement of compliance with each individual provision. This may be useful in ensuring the disclosure is comprehensive and may help to ensure that each provision has been considered in turn.

In providing an explanation for any variation from the *NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance*, the NHS foundation trust should aim to illustrate how its actual practices are consistent with the principle to which the particular provision relates. It should set out the background, provide a clear rationale, and describe any mitigating actions it is taking to address any risks and maintain conformity with the relevant principle. Where deviation from a particular provision is intended to be limited in time, the explanation should indicate when the NHS foundation trust expects to conform to the provision.

The table below provides a summary of the provisions – the full provisions as listed in the document should be used for reference. In this summary "the board" refers to the board of directors, "the council" to the council of governors, and "trust" refers to the NHS foundation trust.

Provision	Summary:
A.1.4	The board should ensure that adequate systems and processes are maintained to measure and monitor the NHS foundation trust's effectiveness, efficiency and economy as well as the quality of its health care delivery
A.1.5	The board should ensure that relevant metrics, measures, milestones and accountabilities are developed and agreed so as to understand and assess progress and delivery of performance
A.1.6	The board should report on its approach to clinical governance.
A.1.7	The chief executive as the accounting officer should follow the procedure set out by Monitor for advising the board and the council and for recording and submitting objections to decisions.
A.1.8	The board should establish the constitution and standards of conduct for

	the NHS foundation trust and its staff in accordance with NHS values and accepted standards of behaviour in public life
A.1.9	The board should operate a code of conduct that builds on the values of
	the NHS foundation trust and reflect high standards of probity and
	responsibility.
A.1.10	The NHS foundation trust should arrange appropriate insurance to cover
	the risk of legal action against its directors.
A.3.1	The chairperson should, on appointment by the council, meet the
	independence criteria set out in B.1.1. A chief executive should not go on
	to be the chairperson of the same NHS foundation trust.
A.4.1	In consultation with the council, the board should appoint one of the
7 (1 1 1 1	independent non-executive directors to be the senior independent
	director.
A.4.2	The chairperson should hold meetings with the non-executive directors
Λ.τ.∠	without the executives present.
A.4.3	Where directors have concerns that cannot be resolved about the
A.4.5	running of the NHS foundation trust or a proposed action, they should
	ensure that their concerns are recorded in the board minutes.
A.5.1	The council of governors should meet sufficiently regularly to discharge
A.5. I	its duties.
A.5.2	
A.5.2 A.5.4	The council of governors should not be so large as to be unwieldy.
A.3.4	The roles and responsibilities of the council of governors should be set out in a written document.
A.5.5	
A.3.3	The chairperson is responsible for leadership of both the board and the
	council but the governors also have a responsibility to make the
	arrangements work and should take the lead in inviting the chief
	executive to their meetings and inviting attendance by other executives
A	and non-executives, as appropriate.
A.5.6	The council should establish a policy for engagement with the board of
A = 7	directors for those circumstances when they have concerns.
A.5.7	The council should ensure its interaction and relationship with the board
A = 0	of directors is appropriate and effective.
A.5.8	The council should only exercise its power to remove the chairperson or
	any non-executive directors after exhausting all means of engagement
A 5 0	with the board.
A.5.9	The council should receive and consider other appropriate information
D 4 0	required to enable it to discharge its duties.
B.1.2	At least half the board, excluding the chairperson, should comprise non-
	executive directors determined by the board to be independent.
B.1.3	No individual should hold, at the same time, positions of director and
	governor of any NHS foundation trust.
B.2.1	The nominations committee or committees, with external advice as
	appropriate, are responsible for the identification and nomination of
	executive and non-executive directors.
B.2.2	Directors on the board of directors and governors on the council should
	meet the "fit and proper" persons test described in the provider licence.
B.2.3	The nominations committee(s) should regularly review the structure, size
	and composition of the board and make recommendations for changes
	where appropriate.

B.2.4	The chairperson or an independent non-executive director should chair the nominations committee(s).
B.2.5	The governors should agree with the nominations committee a clear
	process for the nomination of a new chairperson and non-executive
	directors.
B.2.6	Where an NHS foundation trust has two nominations committees, the
	nominations committee responsible for the appointment of non-executive
	directors should consist of a majority of governors.
B.2.7	When considering the appointment of non-executive directors, the council
D.Z.1	should take into account the views of the board and the nominations
	committee on the qualifications, skills and experience required for each
	position.
B.2.8	The annual report should describe the process followed by the council in
D.Z.0	
D 0 0	relation to appointments of the chairperson and non-executive directors.
B.2.9	An independent external adviser should not be a member of or have a
D 0 0	vote on the nominations committee(s).
B.3.3	The board should not agree to a full-time executive director taking on
	more than one non-executive directorship of an NHS foundation trust or
5 - 4	another organisation of comparable size and complexity.
B.5.1	The board and the council governors should be provided with high-quality
	information appropriate to their respective functions and relevant to the
	decisions they have to make.
B.5.2	The board and in particular non-executive directors, may reasonably wish
	to challenge assurances received from the executive management. They
	need not seek to appoint a relevant adviser for each and every subject
	area that comes before the board, although they should, wherever
	possible, ensure that they have sufficient information and understanding
	to enable challenge and to take decisions on an informed basis.
B.5.3	The board should ensure that directors, especially non-executive
	directors, have access to the independent professional advice, at the
	NHS foundation trust's expense, where they judge it necessary to
	discharge their responsibilities as directors.
B.5.4	Committees should be provided with sufficient resources to undertake
	their duties.
B.6.3	The senior independent director should lead the performance evaluation
	of the chairperson.
B.6.4	The chairperson, with assistance of the board secretary, if applicable,
	should use the performance evaluations as the basis for determining
	individual and collective professional development programmes for non-
	executive directors relevant to their duties as board members.
B.6.5	Led by the chairperson, the council should periodically assess their
	collective performance and they should regularly communicate to
	members and the public details on how they have discharged their
	responsibilities.
B.6.6	There should be a clear policy and a fair process, agreed and adopted by
	the council, for the removal from the council of any governor who
	consistently and unjustifiability fails to attend the meetings of the council
	or has an actual or potential conflict of interest which prevents the proper
	exercise of their duties.
I	

D 0 4	The remuneration committee should not agree to an according as a life
B.8.1	The remuneration committee should not agree to an executive member of
	the board leaving the employment of an NHS foundation trust, except in
	accordance with the terms of their contract of employment, including but
	not limited to service of their full notice period and/or material reductions
	in their time commitment to the role, without the board first having
	completed and approved a full risk assessment.
C.1.2	The directors should report that the NHS foundation trust is a going
	concern with supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary.
C.1.3	At least annually and in a timely manner, the board should set out clearly
	its financial, quality and operating objectives for the NHS foundation trust
	and disclose sufficient information, both quantitative and qualitative, of
	the NHS foundation trust's business and operation, including clinical
	outcome data, to allow members and governors to evaluate its
	performance.
C.3.1	The board should establish an audit committee composed of at least
	three members who are all independent non-executive directors.
C.3.3	The council should take the lead in agreeing with the audit committee the
	criteria for appointing, re-appointing and removing external auditors.
C.3.6	The NHS foundation trust should appoint an external auditor for a period
0.0.0	of time which allows the auditor to develop a strong understanding of the
	finances, operations and forward plans of the NHS foundation trust.
C.3.7	When the council ends an external auditor's appointment in disputed
	circumstances, the chairperson should write to Monitor informing it of the
	reasons behind the decision.
C.3.8	The audit committee should review arrangements that allow staff of the
	NHS foundation trust and other individuals where relevant, to raise, in
	confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial
	reporting and control, clinical quality, patient safety or other matters.
D.1.1	Any performance-related elements of the remuneration of executive
D.11.1	directors should be designed to align their interests with those of patients,
	service users and taxpayers and to give these directors keen incentives
	to perform at the highest levels.
D.1.2	Levels of remuneration for the chairperson and other non-executive
D.11.2	directors should reflect the time commitment and responsibilities of their
	roles.
D.1.4	The remuneration committee should carefully consider what
	compensation commitments (including pension contributions and all other
	elements) their directors' terms of appointments would give rise to in the
	event of early termination.
D.2.2	The remuneration committee should have delegated responsibility for
D.Z.Z	setting remuneration for all executive directors, including pension rights
	and any compensation payments.
D.2.3	The council should consult external professional advisers to market-test
D.2.0	the remuneration levels of the chairperson and other non-executives at
	least once every three years and when they intend to make a material
	change to the remuneration of a non-executive.
E.1.2	The board should clarify in writing how the public interests of patients and
∟.۱.∠	the local community will be represented, including its approach for
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	addressing the overlap and interface between governors and any local consultative forums.
	CONSUMATIVE TOTALITIS.

E.1.3	The chairperson should ensure that the views of governors and members
	are communicated to the board as a whole.
E.2.1	The board should be clear as to the specific third party bodies in relation
	to which the NHS foundation trust has a duty to co-operate.
E.2.2	The board should ensure that effective mechanisms are in place to co- operate with relevant third party bodies and that collaborative and productive relationships are maintained with relevant stakeholders at appropriate levels of seniority in each.

Appendix A: The role of the NHS foundation trust secretary

The NHS foundation trust secretary has a significant role to play in the administration of corporate governance. In particular, the trust secretary would normally be expected to:

- ensure good information flows within the board of directors and its committees and between senior management, non-executive directors and the governors;
- ensure that board procedures of both the board of directors and the council of governors are complied with;
- advise the board of directors and the council of governors (through the chairperson) on all governance matters; and
- be available to give advice and support to individual directors, particularly in relation to the induction of new directors and assistance with professional development.

Accordingly, the NHS foundation trust should give careful consideration to the appointment of a trust secretary in view of the clear benefits of the role. A trust secretary is normally employed by the NHS foundation trust. All directors and governors would have access to the advice and services of the trust secretary. Both the appointment and removal of the trust secretary would be a matter for the chief executive and chairperson jointly.

Appendix B: The role of the nominated lead governor

The lead governor has a role to play in facilitating direct communication between Monitor and the NHS foundation trust's council of governors. This will be in a limited number of circumstances and, in particular, where it may not be appropriate to communicate through the normal channels, which in most cases will be via the chairperson or the trust secretary, if one is appointed.

It is not anticipated that there will be regular direct contact between Monitor and the council of governors in the ordinary course of business. Where this is necessary, it is important that it happens quickly and in an effective manner. To this end, a lead governor should be nominated and contact details provided to Monitor, and then updated as required. The lead governor may be any of the governors.

The main circumstances where Monitor will contact a lead governor are where Monitor has concerns as to board leadership provided to an NHS foundation trust, and those concerns may in time lead to the use by Monitor's board of its formal powers to remove the chairperson or non-executive directors. The council of governors appoints the chairperson and non-executive directors, and it will usually be the case that Monitor will wish to understand the views of the governors as to the capacity and capability of these individuals to lead the trust, and to rectify successfully any issues, and also for the governors to understand Monitor's concerns.

Monitor does not, however, envisage direct communication with the governors until such time as there is a real risk that an NHS foundation trust may be in significant breach of its licence. Once there is a risk that this may be the case, and the likely issue is one of board leadership, Monitor will often wish to have direct contact with the NHS foundation trust's governors, but at speed and through one established point of contact, the trust's nominated lead governor. The lead governor should take steps to understand Monitor's role, the available guidance and the basis on which Monitor may take regulatory action. The lead governor will then be able to communicate more widely with other governors.

Similarly, where individual governors wish to contact Monitor, this would be expected to be through the lead governor.

The other circumstance where Monitor may wish to contact a lead governor is where, as the regulator, we have been made aware that the process for the appointment of the chairperson or other members of the board, or elections for governors, or other material decisions, may not have complied with the NHS foundation trust's constitution, or alternatively, whilst complying with the trust's constitution, may be inappropriate.

In such circumstances, where the chairperson, other members of the board of directors or the trust secretary may have been involved in the process by which these appointments or other decisions were made, a lead governor may provide a point of contact for Monitor.

Accordingly, the NHS foundation trust should nominate a lead governor, and to continue to update Monitor with their contact details as and when these change.

Appendix C: The NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance and other regulatory requirements

Although compliance with the provisions in this guide is not necessarily mandatory, some of the provisions in this document are statutory requirements because they are enshrined elsewhere in legislation. In the first instance, boards, directors and governors should ensure they are meeting the governance requirements for NHS foundation trusts as set out in the 2006 Act (as amended by the 2012 Act) and reflected in the new provider licence and *Risk assessment framework*. This Code sits alongside a number of other Monitor reporting requirements which relate to governance.

Foundation Trust Condition 4: Governance in the new NHS foundation trust provider licence allows Monitor to use reasonable evidence, from disclosures made to us by NHS foundation trusts, to determine if there is a risk of a breach of the licence condition and make a decision regarding intervention. The information we receive includes: a **forward looking** disclosure on corporate governance (the Corporate Governance Statement); a **backward looking** disclosure on corporate governance (the *NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance*); and a **backward looking** statement on internal control, risk and quality governance (the Annual Governance Statement).

For clarity, here, we have provided a brief explanation of how the different requirements sit together and the purpose of each.

The Corporate Governance Statement – in the Annual Plan

In order to comply with both the new provider licence and the *Risk* assessment framework, the Annual Plan also includes a requirement for a Corporate Governance Statement. This is a mandatory requirement. This is a forward looking statement of expectations regarding corporate governance arrangements over the next 12 months and trusts should be aware that "issues not identified and subsequently arising can be used as evidence of self-certification failure". The requirement for the completion of the Corporate Governance Statement is separate to the disclosure requirements of this Code.

 The Code disclosure requirements – listed in this document and the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual

This document is designed to set out **standards of best practice for corporate governance** – that is the behaviours and systems governing directors, and governors, and their role in ensuring adequate standards of audit and stakeholder engagement.

It is not mandatory to comply with this guidance, however, Section 7 of the *Annual Reporting Manual* does require trusts to make some specific disclosures on a "comply or explain" basis regarding the provisions listed in this document. (A detailed list of the disclosures required is provided in Schedule A of this document and duplicated in the *Annual Reporting Manual*, for ease of reference). This is a backward looking statement which should be submitted with the Annual Report.

• The Annual Governance Statement – in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual

In addition to listing the Code disclosure requirements, the *Annual Reporting Manual* also requires an Annual Governance Statement. The Annual Governance Statement is a backward looking statement which captures information on risk management and internal control, and includes some specific requirements on quality governance. It replaced and expanded on the former requirement for a Statement on Internal Control.

Completion of the Annual Governance Statement is a mandatory requirement. The Annual Governance statement does not relate to this Code.



Contact us

Monitor, Wellington House, 133-155 Waterloo Road, London, SE1 8UG

Telephone: 020 3747 0000 Email: enquiries@monitor.gov.uk Website: www.monitor.gov.uk

This publication can be made available in a number of other formats on request. Application for reproduction of any material in this publication should be made in writing to enquiries@monitor.gov.uk or to the address above.